Functional roles of tissue transglutaminase in apoptotic mechanisms of cardiomyocytes

Byoung-Keuk Kim

Department of Medicine

The Graduate School, Yonsei University

Functional roles of tissue transglutaminase in apoptotic mechanisms of cardiomyocytes

Directed by Professor Yangsoo Jang

The Doctoral Dissertation

Submitted to Department of Medicine,

The Graduate School, Yonsei University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Byoung-Keuk Kim

May 2007

This certifies that the Doctoral Dissertation of Byoung-Keuk Kim is approved

Thesis Supervisor: Professor Yangsoo Jang

Professor Donghoon Choi: Thesis Committee Member

Professor Ki-Chul Hwang: Thesis Committee Member

Professor Young Nyun Park: Thesis Committee Member

Professor Jun Haeng Lee: Thesis Committee Member

The Graduate School Yonsei University

May 2007

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am grateful to Professor Yangsoo Jang for meticulous guidance and critical comments during the fulfillment of this dissertation. He was the supervisor of my life, job, and the doctoral course, granted me the title of PhD, and has led me in my right position until now.

Special thanks go to Professor Donghoon Choi, Ki-Chul Hwang, Jun Haeng Lee, and Young Nyun Park for generous advice and helpful reading the manuscript. Especially, I sincerely appreciate Dr. Ki-Chul Hwang's kindness; He conducted my study with a good grace.

I would like to thank the researchers at Department of cardiovascular research institute for their help in the preparation of the present experiment.

I want to express my appreciation to my parents, who gave me economic support and wisdom of life, my wife, Sunny Kim, my eternal loving partner, and my son and daughter; Bum Jun and Hee Seo for their love and warm encouragement.

I dedicate the dissertation to my parents and my loving family.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	1
I. INTRODUCTION	3
II. MATERIALS AND METHODS	6
1. Isolation of neonatal rat cardiomyocytes	6
2. Immunochemistry	7
3. Flow cytometry	8
4. Immunoblot analysis	9
5. Confocal microscopy and fluorescence measurements	10
6. Caspase-3 activity	11
7. Statistical analysis	12
III. RESULTS	12
1. Change of tTG expression in apoptotic cardiomyocytes	12
2. Relation of tTG expression with apoptotic caspase-3 activity	15
3. Effect of tTG expression level on proliferation and survival signal molecules	17
4. Effect of tTG expression level on apoptotic signal molecules -	19
 5. Effect of tTG expression level on calcium overload and related signal molecules 6. Effect of CRT expression level on tTG related 	21
signal molecules	24
IV. DISCUSSION	26
V. CONCLUSION	29
REFERENCES	30

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.	Change of tTG expression in apoptotic	
	cardiomyocytes induced by H_2O_2 1	3
Figure 2.	Change of tTG expression in retinoic acid-	
	treated cardiomyocytes1	4
Figure 3.	Relation of tTG expression with apoptotic	
	caspase-3 activity1	5
Figure 4.	Relation of tTG expression with caspase-3	
	activity in cardiomyocytes induced by H_2O_2 1	6
Figure 5.	Effect of tTG on activity of proteins related to	
	survival of H ₂ O ₂ stimulated cardiomyocytes 1	8
Figure 6.	Effect of tTG on activity of proteins related to	
	extrinsic apoptosis in cardiomyocytes2	0
Figure 7.	Effect of tTG on activity of proteins related to	
	intrinsic apoptosis in cardiomyocytes2	1
Figure 8.	Effect of tTG on intracellular calcium	
	concentration of apoptotic cardiomyocytes	
	induced by H ₂ O ₂ 2	2
Figure 9.	Effect of tTG on activity of proteins related to	
	calcium overload in cardiomyocytes 2	3
Figure 10.	Effect of CRT expression on tTG-related	
	signal molecules in cardiomyocytes 2	5

Abstract

Functional roles of tissue transglutaminase in apoptotic mechanisms of cardiomyocytes

Byoung-Keuk Kim

Department of Medicine The Graduate School, Yonsei University

(Directed by Professor Yangsoo Jang)

Tissue transglutaminase (tTG) is ubiquitously expressed in mammalian tissues; found both extracellularly at the cell surface in association with the extracellular matrix and intracellularly in membrane-associated as well as cytosolic forms. The physiological role of tTG remains unclear in the cellular function. The majority of studies support the notion that transamidation by tTG can both facilitate and inhibit apoptosis, while the GTP-bound form of the enzyme generally protects cells against death. In that, many previous studies indicated Janus face of tTG in the apoptotic program. In this study, we hypothesize that tTG plays a pivotal role in neonatal rat ventricular cardiomyocyte under apoptotic condition. Neonatal rat cardiomyocytes were treated with 500 μ M H₂O₂ for 2 hours or 100 μ M retinoic acids for 24 hours.

increased expression of tTG after apoptotic stimulation. Caspase-3 assay demonstrated considerable correlation between tTG expression and apoptosis. Immunoblot assay analysis demonstrated increased tTG expression significantly inhibit survival or anti-apoptotic signal molecules such as p-ERK1, 2, p-Akt and Bcl-2 but enhance activation of caspase-8, cytochrome c and Bax. tTG expression also regulated intracellular Ca²⁺ overload because cardiomyocytes transfected with tTG under treatment of 500 μ M H₂O₂ induced reduction of PLC- δ 1 expression and PKC activation. Furthermore, our data showed that tTG expression and tTG-related apoptotic signal molecules were controlled by calreticulin (CRT) expression level. Therefore, the results from this study show that tTG expression level modulates apoptotic signal molecule and undergo on intracellular calcium level and signal.

Key Words: Cardiomyocytes, tissue traansglutaminase (tTG), Apoptosis, Hydrogen Peroxide, Retinoic Acids Functional roles of tissue transglutaminase in apoptotic mechanisms of cardiomyocytes

Byoung-Keuk Kim

Department of Medicine The Graduate School, Yonsei University

(Directed by Professor Yangsoo Jang)

I. INTRODUCTION

A novel GTPase [termed as $G\alpha_h$ and tissue transglutaminase (tTG)], observed in rat liver plasma membrane as a mediator of transmembrane signaling, also has transglutaminase (TGase) activity.¹ Because tTG binds and hydrolyzes GTP with an affinity and catalytic rate similar to the α subunits of large heterotrimeric G proteins and small Ras-type G proteins, the GTPase reaction of tTG transduces signals from receptors to effectors, and the subsequent association of GDP-bound tTG with calreticulin (CRT) completes one cycle of signaling.²⁻⁴ tTG couples α_{1b-} and α_{1d-} adrenoreceptors, thromboxane and oxytocin receptors to phospholipase C (PLC δ 1), mediating inositol phosphate production in response to agonist activation. G α h, also known as tTG (tissue Tgase), is a member of the TGase family (thiol- and Ca²⁺-dependent acyl transferases family) that catalyzes the catalyze the formation of a covalent bond between the γ -carboxamide groups of peptidebound glutamine residues and various primary amines, including the ε -amino group of lysine in certain proteins.

In general, tTG is ubiquitously expressed in mammalian tissues, found both extracellularly at the cell surface in association with the extracellular matrix and intracellularly in membrane-associated as well as cytosolic forms.^{5, 6} The physiological role of the TGase function of G α h remains unclear, and the regulation of isopeptide formation is completely unknown. The formation of irreversible isopepetides in a number of proteins has been observed during diverse cellular processes, including cell differentiation, cell adhesion, cross-linking of interacting extracellular matrix, and induction of apoptosis.⁷⁻¹⁰ The GTPase activity of G α h has been shown to be involved in regulation of cell cycle progression.¹¹

tTG is often upregulated in cells undergoing apoptosis. In cultured cells tTG may exert both pro- and anti-apoptotic effects depending upon the type of cell, the kind of death stimuli, the intracellular localization of the enzyme and the type of its activities switched on. The majority of studies support the notion that transamidation by tTG can both facilitate and inhibit apoptosis, while the GTP-bound form of the enzyme generally protects cells against death. But many previous studies indicated Janus face of tTG in the apoptotic program.

Ischemia/reperfusion injury (I/R) is a common cardiac pathology resulting from resumption of blood flow in occluded coronary arteries. Myocardial ischemia initiates a range of cellular events, which are initially mild and become progressively damaging with increasing duration of ischemia. Although the meaning of reperfusion is a termination of ischemia and essential condition for cellular survival and restoration of normal function, it paradoxically causes damage to the cell. The major identified mediators of I/R injury are the reactive oxygen species (ROS) which include H_2O_2 , the superoxide anion O_2^- , and OH^{-,12,13} Indeed, in recent years abundant reports have pointed to the important contribution of apoptosis to the underlying cardiac dysfunction in major heart pathologies, including ischemic heart diseases.^{14,15} Most of the apoptotic damage occurs during the reperfusion phase, emphasizing the key role of ROS in the apoptotic damage in the ischemic/reperfused myocardium.

To investigate to what extent the change of tTG expression is a key biochemical event in the death program, we studied the effect on apoptosis of H_2O_2 -stimulated cardiomyocyte stably transfected with plasmids containing tTG cDNA or siRNA for tTG. Myocardial apoptosis involved in tTG in neonatal rat ventricular cardiomyocyte was characterized further by examining the change of protein related to apoptotic and calcium signals.

II. MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. Isolation of neonatal rat cardiomyocytes

Neonatal rat cardiomyocytes were isolated and purified by previously described methods. Briefly, hearts of 1-2 day-old Sprague Dawley rat pups were dissected and the ventricles washed with Dulbecco's phosphate-buffered saline solution (PBS) (pH 7.4, Gibco BRL) lacking Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺. Using micro-dissecting scissors, hearts were minced until the pieces were approximately 1 mm³ and treated with 10ml of collagenase I (0.8 mg/ml, 262 units/mg, Gibco BRL) for 15 minutes at 37°C. The supernatant was then removed and the tissue treated with fresh collagenase I solution for an additional 15 minutes. The cells in the supernatant were transferred to a tube containing cell culture medium (α -MEM containing 10% fetal bovine serum,

Gibco BRL). The tubes were centrifuged at 1200 rpm for 4 minutes at room temperature, and the cell pellet was resuspended in 5 ml of cell culture medium. The above procedures were repeated 7-9 times until little tissue remained. Cell suspensions were collected and incubated in 100mm tissue culture dishes for 1-3 hours to reduce fibroblast contamination. The non-adherent cells were collected and seeded to achieve a final concentration of 5 x 10^5 cells/ml. After incubation for 4-6 hours, the cells were rinsed twice with cell culture medium and 0.1 μ M BrdU was added. Cells were then cultured with cell culture medium in a CO₂ incubator at 37°C.

2. Immunocytochemistry

Cells were grown on 4-well plastic dishes (SonicSeal Slide, Nalge Nunc, Rochester, NY, USA). Following incubation, the cells were washed twice with PBS and then fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde in 0.5 ml PBS for 30 min at room temperature. The cells were washed again with PBS and then permeabilized for 30 min in PBS containing 0.2% triton. The cells were then blocked in PBS containing 10% goat serum and then incubated for 1 hr with rabbit polyclonal TG2 antibody. The cells were rewashed three times for 10 min with PBS and incubated with FITC-conjugated goat anti-rabbit antibody as the secondary antibody for 1 hr. Photographs of cells were taken under fluorescence by immunofluorescence microscopy (Olympus, Melville, NY, USA). All images were made by using an excitation filter under reflected light fluorescence microscopy and transferred to a computer equipped with MetaMorph software ver. 4.6 (Universal Imaging Corp.). All images were made by using an excitation filter under reflected light fluorescence microscopy and transferred to a computer equipped with MetaMorph software ver. 4.6 (Universal Imaging Corp.).

3. Flow cytometry

Cardiomyocytes were retrieved with a standard trypsinization technique. Cells were washed in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and fixed in 70% ethanol at 4 °C for 30 min with agitation. Cells were washed twice in PBS and resuspended at 2×106 cells/ml in blocking buffer (1% BSA, 0.1% FBS) containing anti-TG2 rabbit antibody diluted at 1: 200. The labeling reaction mixture was agitated for 20 min at room temperature. Cells were washed twice and then labeled with anti-rabbit-FITC conjugated IgG (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories, Inc.PA, USA) diluted to 1:400 for 20 min at room temperature in the dark. After two more washes, flow cytometric analysis was performed on a FACSCalibur system (Becton Dickinson, CA, USA) using CellQuestTM software with 10,000 events recorded for each sample. Data was acquired in single parameter histogram with appropriate particle size and light scatter gating.

4. Immunoblot analysis

Cells were washed once in PBS and lysed in a lysis buffer (Cell signaling, Beverly, MA, USA) containing 20 mM Tris (pH 7.5), 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM Na₂EDTA, 1 mM EGTA, 1% Triton, 2.5 mM sodium pyrophosphate, 1 mM β glycerophosphate, 1 mM Na₃VO₄, 1 mg/ml leupeptin and 1 mM PMSF. Protein concentrations were determined using the Bradford protein assay kit (BioRad, Hercules, CA, USA). Proteins were separated in a 12% SDSpolyacrylamide gel and transferred to PVDF membrane (Millipore Co, Bedford, MA, USA). After blocking the membrane with Tris-buffered saline-Tween 20 (TBS-T, 0.1% Tween 20) containing 5% non-fat dried milk for 1 hr at room temperature, membranes were washed twice with TBS-T and incubated with primary antibodies for 1 hr at room temperature or for overnight at 4°C. The membrane were washed three times with TBS-T for 10 min, and then incubated for 1 hr at room temperature with horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated secondary antibodies. After extensive washing, the bands were detected by enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) reagent (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA, USA). The band intensities were quantified using a Photo-Image System (Molecular Dynamics, Uppsala, Sweden).

5. Confocal microscopy and fluorescence measurements

The measurement of cytosolic free Ca^{2+} was performed by confocal microscopy analysis. Neonatal rat cardiomyocytes were plated on glass coverslips coated with laminin (5 mg/cm²) for 1 day in cell culture medium (α -MEM containing 10% fetal bovine serum, Gibco BRL) and 0.1 μ M BrdU. After incubation, the cells were washed with modified Tyrode's solution containing 0.265 g/l CaCl₂, 0.214 g/l MgCl₂, 0.2 g/l KCl, 8.0 g/l NaCl, 1 g/l glucose, 0.05 g/l NaH2PO4 and 1.0 g/l NaHCO3. Cells were then loaded with 5 mM of the acetoxymethyl ester of Fluo-4 (Fluo-4 AM, Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR) for 20 min, in the dark and at room temperature, by incubation in modified Tyrode's solution. Fluorescence images were obtained using an argon laser confocal microscope (Carl Zeiss Inc., Thornwood, NY). This fluorochrome is excited by the 488 nm line of an

argon laser and emitted light is collected through a 510-560 nm bandpass filter. Relative changes of free intracellular Ca^{2+} were determined by measuring fluorescent intensity.

6. Caspase-3 assay

Relative caspase-3 activity was determined using the ApopTargetTM Capase-3 Colorimetric Protease Assay, according to manufacturer's instructions (Biosource). This assay is based on the generation of free DEVD-pNA chromophore when the provided substrate is cleaved by caspase-3. Upon cleavage of the substrate by caspase-3, free pNA light absorbance can be quantified using a microplate reader at 405nm. Briefly, the cultured neonatal cardiomyocytes (3×10⁶) after different treatments were harvested in lysis buffer (1M DTT), and cell extracts were centrifuged to eliminate cellular debris. Protein concentration was determined by the Bradford assay (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA). Aliquots (50 µl) of the cell extracts were incubated at 37°C for 2 h in the presence of the chromophore substrate. Free DEVD-pNA was determined colormetrically. The comparison of absorbance of pNA from apoptotic samples with uninduced controls allowed determination of the fold increase in caspase-3 activity.

7. Statistical analysis

Data are presented as mean \pm S.E.M. of more than three separate experiments performed in triplicate. Where results of blots are shown, a representative experiment is depicted. Comparisons between multiple groups were performed with one-way ANOVA (Analysis of Variance) with Bonferroni's test. Statistical significance was defined as p < 0.05 and p < 0.01.

III. RESULTS

1. Change of tTG expression in apoptotic cardiomyocyte

To determine whether the treatment of cardiomyocytes with H₂O₂ led to its enhanced expression of tTG. we measured tTG levels by immunocytochemistry and flow cytometry. Confocal microscopy demonstrates low levels of immunoreactive tTG in the cytosol of control rat neonatal cardiomyocytes but stimulation of 500 µM H₂O₂ for 2 hours induced the increased level of immunoreactive tTG (Figure 1A). At the same time, flow cytometry results established the fact that stimulation of 500 μ M H₂O₂ for 2 hours in cardiomyocyte increased the level of surface tTG protein

expression (Figure 1B).



Figure 1. Change of tTG expression in apoptotic cardiomyocytes induced by H_2O_2 . Cardiomyocytes were plated in triplicate wells of 4 well plates and treated with 500 μ M H_2O_2 for 2 hours. Change of total tTG expression in cardiomyocytes was detected by the immunocytochemistry. Each result was quantified by scanning densitometry (A). Flow cytometry of surface tTG in cardiomyocytes exposed to 500 μ M H_2O_2 for 2 hours (B). These experiments were repeated three times.

tTG is induced in a variety of cell types on exposure to retinoic acid (RA). Figure 2 shows similar activation of tTG when cardiomyocytes are stimulated with RA. The induction of tTG with atRA is dose-dependent. Increasing steady-state expression levels of tTG emerge as low as 20 μ M RA, with peak expression at 100 μ M RA.



Rectinoic acid (µM)



Figure 2. Change of tTG expression in retinoic acid-treated cardiomyocytes. Cardiomyocytes were plated in triplicate wells of 4 well plates and treated with various concentration of retinoic acid for 24 hours. Change of total tTG expression in cardiomyocytes was detected by the immunocytochemistry. Each result was quantified by scanning densitometry and repeated three times.

2. Relation of tTG expression with apoptotic caspase-3 activity

Our present study has shown that H_2O_2 and RA, known as an inducer of apoptosis in cells, stimulate the expression of tTG. To determine whether the effect of increased tTG expression on the apoptosis of cardiomyocytes, cardiomyocytes were treated with or without 500 μ M H₂O₂ and 100 μ M RA, which induced increased expression level of tTG and changes of caspase-3 activity was measured. After stimulation of H₂O₂ or RA, the activity of caspase-3 was more increased than normal control (without H₂O₂ or RA) (Figure 3A and B).



Figure 3. Relation of tTG expression with apoptotic caspase-3 activity.

Cardiomyocytes were plated in triplicate wells of 4 well plates and treated with 500 μ M H₂O₂ (A) or 100 μ M Retinoic acid (B). Change of total tTG expression in cardiomyocytes was detected by the immunocytochemistry.

Figure 4 demonstrated the relation between expression level of tTG and program cell death. The expression level of tTG was clearly increased within 24 hours after H_2O_2 stimulation. tTG protein remained elevated up to 24hours and shorter time-course studies reveal increases in tTG protein as early as 2 hours after H_2O_2 administration. Furthermore, the activity of caspase-3 was also increased according to increased expression of tTG.



Figure 4. Relation of tTG expression with caspase-3 activity in cardiomyocytes induced by H_2O_2 . Western blot analysis of tTG in cardiomyocytes exposed to 500 μ M H_2O_2 within 24 hours after H_2O_2 stimulation. Each signal was quantified by scanning densitometry. Western blot was repeated three times. Relative caspase-3 activity was determined using the ApopTargetTM Capase-3 Colorimetric Protease Assay in cardiomyocytes stimulated with 500 μ M H_2O_2 within 24 hours after H_2O_2 stimulation. Data denote the means \pm S.E.M. of $2m_3$ replicate measurements in three different cell cultures.

3. Effect of tTG expression level on proliferation and survival signal molecules

In the mechanisms of cellular survival and proliferation, the activation of ERKs plays an important role in gene regulation and PI3K/Akt signaling pathway is also pro-survival and anti-apoptotic signal. Akt is phosphorylated at two sites due to activation of enzyme activity: Thr308 in the catalytic domain and Ser473 in the cytoplasmic domain. ERK is one of dual specificity kinases in MAPKs. Phosphorylation of Akt at Ser473 and ERKs (42 and 44 kDa) was detected by immunoblot assay. The phosphorylation activities of both Akt and ERK were decreased in 500 µM H₂O₂ stimulated cardiomyocyte

compared with normal cells and cells transfected with tTG induced more decreased activities of both Akt and ERK. But the activities of Akt and ERK were increased in tTG down-expressed cells cells (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Effect of tTG on activity of proteins related to survival of H_2O_2 stimulated cardiomyocytes. Cardiomyocytes were treated with siRNA for 12hr to block each gene, and then incubated for 2 hours with 500 μ M H_2O_2 . Western blot analysis of phosphorylaton of ERK and Akt in cardiomyocytes exposed to 500 μ M H_2O_2 for 2 hours. Each signal was quantified by scanning densitometry and the figure shows the level of each activity relative to the maximal level of p-ERK and p-Akt. Western blots were repeated three times.

4. Effect of tTG expression level on apoptotic signal molecules

It has been known that H_2O_2 is one of apoptotic stimulus in cardiomyocyte. Apoptotic cell death is triggered by extrinsic, receptor-mediated, or intrinsic, mitochondria-mediated, signaling pathways that induce death-associated proteolytic and/or nucleolytic activities. The net result of extrinsic apoptotic signaling is the activation of caspase-8 and intrinsic apoptosis through the mitochondrial pathway is partly regulated by the interaction of Bcl-2 family proteins. These proteins may be anti-apoptotic (Bcl-2) or pro-apoptotic (Bax) and pro-apoptotic protein induces conformational change which triggers the release of cytochrome c from the mitochondrial membrane space into the cytosol. H₂O₂ induces the increased expression of pro-apoptotic protein, caspase-8, Bax and cytochrome c and the decreased expression of antiapoptotic protein, Bcl-2 than normal condition. Following change of tTG expression in 500 µM H₂O₂ stimulated cardiomyocyte, the expression level of caspase-8, Bax and cytochrome c was more increased in tTG over-expressed cells but inhibition of tTG expression in 500 µM H₂O₂ stimulated cardiomyocyte induced the decreased caspase-8, Bax and cytochrome c expression (Figure 6, 7A and B). The case of Bcl-2 expression was dramatically opposed to the pattern of Bax and cytochrome c expression





Figure 6. Effect of tTG on activity of proteins related to extrinsic apoptosis in cardiomyocytes. Cardiomyocytes were treated with siRNA for 12hr to block each gene, then incubated for 2 hours with 500 μ M H₂O₂.Western blot analysis of caspase-8 in cardiomyocytes exposed to 500 μ M H₂O₂ for 2 hours. Each signal was quantified by scanning densitometry and the figure showed the levels of each activity as relative value of the maximal level of active caspase-8. Western blot was repeated three times.



Figure 7. Effect of tTG on activity of proteins related to intrinsic apoptosis in cardiomyocytes. Cardiomyocytes were treated with siRNA for 12hr to block each gene, and then incubated for 2 hours with 500 μ M H₂O₂.Western blot analysis of cytochrome c, Bax and Bcl-2 in cardiomyocytes exposed to 500 μ M H₂O₂ for 2 hours. Each signal was quantified by scanning densitometry and the figure showed the levels of each activity as relative value of the maximal level of cytochrome c, Bax and Bcl-2. Western blot was repeated three times.

5. Effect of tTG expression level on calcium overload and related signal molecules

Phospholipase C (PLC) hydrolyzes the membrane phospholipid, phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP2) to generate diacylglycerol (DAG) and inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate (IP3). DAG and IP3 mediate the activation of protein kinase C (PKC) and intracellular Ca²⁺ mobilization, respectively. Reactive oxygen species can be generated by H₂O₂ and promote large entry of Ca²⁺ into rat neonatal cardiomyocyte. To examine intracellular Ca²⁺ overload in 500 μ M H₂O₂ stimulated cardiomyocyte, the fluorescence intensity method was used in cardiomyocyte loaded with fluo-4 AM. The result shows that the intracellular calcium level of 500 μ M H₂O₂ stimulated cardio with fluo-4 AM. The result shows that the intracellular calcium level of 500 μ M H₂O₂ stimulated cardio cells was much more increased than normal cells but these cells transfected with tTG or siRNA for tTG induced the increase or reduction of intracellular calcium level (Figure 8).



Figure 8. Effect of tTG on intracellular calcium concentration of apoptotic cardiomyocytes induced by H_2O_2 . Neonatal cardiomyocytes were transfected with or not siRNA to a final concentration of 10nM or vehicle then incubated for 2 hours with 500 μ M H_2O_2 . Cytosolic free Ca²⁺ concentration was determined with relative fluorescence intensity. Data denote the means \pm S.E. of 2_{mu}3 replicate measurements in three different cell cultures.

Additionally, the pattern of PLC- δ 1 expression and PKC activation was the same as intracellular Ca²⁺ change of above data. PLC- δ 1 expression and PKC activation in tTG over-expressed cells were more decreased than only 500 μ M H₂O₂ stimulated cells but those of tTG down-expressed cells were enhanced (Figure 9).



Figure 9. Effect of tTG on activity of proteins related to calcium overload in cardiomyocytes. Cardiomyocytes were treated with siRNA for 12hr to block each gene, and then incubated for 2 hours with 500 μ M H₂O₂. Western blot analysis of PKC and PLC δ in cardiomyocytes exposed to 500 μ M H₂O₂ for 2 hours. Each signal was quantified by scanning densitometry and the figure showed the levels of each activity as relative value of the maximal level of PKC and PLC δ . Western blot was repeated three times.

6. Effect of CRT expression level on tTG related signal molecules

To examine whether calreticulin (CRT) influences the change of tTG related signal molecules, the change of tTG expression and pro-/anti-survival signal molecules by CRT was examined. Our results demonstrated that CRT over-expressed cardiomyocytes enhanced tTG expression much more than cells treated with only 500 μ M H₂O₂. On the other hand, the expression of tTG in cells transfected with siRNA for CRT was decreased (Figure 10B). Due to this change of tTG expression by CRT, survival and apoptotic signaling molecules were also controlled by CRT expression. That is, overexpression of CRT in 500 μ M H₂O₂ stimulated cardiomyocytes leaded the increase of caspase-3 activity and the decrease of ERK phosphorylation compared with

H₂O₂ only treated cells (Figure 10A and C).



Figure 10. Effect of CRT expression on tTG-related signal molecules in cardiomyocytes. Cardiomyocytes were treated with siRNA for 12hr to block each gene, then incubated for 2 hours with 500 μ M H₂O₂. Western blot analysis of ERK and tTG in cardiomyocytes exposed to 500 μ M H₂O₂ for 2 hours. Each signal was quantified by scanning densitometry and the figure showed the levels of each activity as relative value of the maximal level of ERK and tTG. Western blot was repeated three times (A and B). Relative caspase-3 activity was determined using the ApopTargetTM Capase-3 Colorimetric Protease Assay in cardiomyocytes stimulated with 500 μ M H₂O₂ within 24 hours after H₂O₂ stimulation. Data denote the means ± S.E.M. of 2_m3 replicate measurements in three different cell cultures (C).

IV. DISCUSSION

The present study demonstrates that a novel GTPase, termed as Ga_h and TG2, plays a pivotal role in neonatal rat ventricular cardiomyocyte under apoptotic condition. In addition, the expression level of tTG effect on myocardial survival under pathologic condition. The results indicate that H_2O_2 induced apoptosis in cardiomyocyte but cardiomyocyte transfected with SiRNA for tTG increased anti-apoptotic signals.

tTG is the most ubiquitous isoform belonging to TGases family. tTG is a versatile multifunctional protein involved in a variety of biochemical functions at various cellular locations.¹⁶⁻¹⁸ Depending upon the nature of the group entering in the reaction, Ca²⁺-dependent cross-linking activity of tTG is responsible for different related modifications such as incorporation of amine into proteins, protein-protein cross-linking as well as site-specific deamidation (if the entering group is a water molecule instead of an amine).¹⁶ Mainly under pathological settings, tTG can also act extracellularly, it can be exposed on the external leaflet of the plasma membrane or released from cells, where it has been suggested to mediate the interaction between integrins and fibronectin with extracellular matrix (ECM).^{19, 20}

In addition to the above mentioned activities, tTG can act as G-protein

binding and hydrolyzing GTP with an affinity and a catalytic rate similar to the α -subunit of large heterotrimeric G proteins and small Ras-type G proteins.²¹ Under such circumstances, tTG couples α_{1b} and α_{1d} adrenoreceptors, thromboxane and oxytocin receptors to phospholipase C (PLC- δ 1).²² When the enzyme is in a GTP/GDP-bound form, it cannot act as transglutaminase.²³ The inhibition is suspended by Ca²⁺ which plays a role as molecular switch between these two functions.²⁴ Finally, based on in vitro observations, a Ca²⁺-independent protein disulfide isomerase (PDI) function has been proposed for this enzyme. The PDI activity seems to rely on an independent active domain from that used for TGase activity, being the cysteine of this latter active site not responsible for PDI activity itself.²⁵

The tTG gene is induced in cells programmed to die during embryonic development as well as in cells undergoing apoptosis in various physiological and pathological contexts.²⁶⁻³⁰ Studies from different laboratories have suggested that tTG might have more than one function within the cascade of events leading to the establishment of the apoptotic phenotype. The data reported in previous paper confirmed that tTG indeed has a role in priming cells for apoptosis; in fact, overexpression of tTG in human neuroblastoma cells significantly increases both spontaneous and induced apoptosis. In the

last 15 years more than 300 papers have clearly shown that tTG acts as a proapoptotic enzyme. In keeping with this notion, previous studies indicated tTG KO mice show defects in the clearance and stability of apoptotic cells.³¹ However, recently antiapoptotic activities for the enzyme have also been reported.^{32–34}

To explore tTG function, we searched the effect of tTG protein expression level on pro- or anti-apototic signals in neonatal cardiomyocytes. The present study showed that cardiomyocytes transfected with tTG induced increased apoptotic signal molecules such as Bax, cytochrome c, caspase-8 and caspase-3. In relation to anti-apoptosis, cardiomyocytes transfected with siRNA for tTG resulted in a dramatic reduction in cardiomyocyte apoptosis. Changes in levels of intracellular calcium can activate signaling pathway to lead apoptosis and cell death caused by calcium overloading has been implicated in myocardium injury of hypoxia-reperfusion. The inhibition of Ca²⁺ overload and calcium related signal was observed in tTG down-expressed cells. Furthermore, our data showed that tTG expression and tTG-related apoptotic signal molecules were controlled by CRT expression level known as a major Ca²⁺ binding/buffering protein of the ER lumen and as such, is involved in several of the processes that comprise cellular Ca²⁺ homeostasis, including Ca^{2+} storage in the ER, Ca^{2+} release from the ER, SERCA function, and activation of store-operated Ca^{2+} influx. That is to say, CRT overexpression enhanced the expression of tTG and pro-apoptotic signal molecules.

V. CONCLUSION

tTG might be essential for regulation of heart apoptosis. Our study demonstrated that tTG expression level modulates apoptotic signal molecule and undergo on intracellular calcium level and signal. Therefore, we have provided new insight into myocardial physiology of tTG so a better understanding of the role of tTG in the regulation of myocardial apoptosis may provide strategies to improve outcome.

REFERENCES

- Nakaoka H, Perez DM, Baek K J, Das T, Husain A, Misono K, et al. Gh: a GTPbinding protein with transglutaminase activity and receptor signaling function. Science 1994;264:1593-6.
- Baek KJ, Das T, Gray C, Desai S, Hwang KC, Gacchui R, et al. A 50 kDa protein modulates guanine nucleotide binding of transglutaminase II. Biochemistry 1996;35: 2651–7.
- Feng JF, Readon M, Yadav SP, Im MJ. Calreticulin down-regulates both GTP binding and transglutaminase activities of transglutaminase II. Biochemistry 1999;38:2224–32.
- Im MJ, Riek RP, Graham RM. A novel guanine nucleotide-binding protein coupled to the 1-adrenergic receptor. II. Purification, characterization and reconstitution. J Biol Chem 1990;265: 18952–60.
- Thomazy V, Fe´su¨s L. Differential expression of tissue transglutaminase in human cells: an immunohistochemical study. Cell Tissue Res 1989;255:215-24.
- Gaudry CA, Verderio E, Aeschlimann D, Cox A, Smith C, Griffin M. Cell surface localization of tissue transglutaminase is dependent on a fibronectin- binding site in its N-terminal beta-sandwich domain. J Biol Chem 1999;274:30707-14.
- 7. Kojima S, Nara K, Rifkin DB. Requirement for transglutaminase in the

activation of latent transforming growth factor-beta in bovine endothelial cells. J Cell Biol 1995;121:439-48.

- Gentile V, Thoma´zy V, Piacentini M, Fe´su¨s L, Davies PJA. Expression of tissue transglutaminase in Balb-C 3T3 fibroblasts: effects on cellular morphology and adhesion. J Cell Biol 1992;119:464-74.
- Upchurch HF, Conway E, Patterson MK Jr, Maxwell MP. Localisation of cellular transglutaminase on the extracellular matrix after wounding: characteristics of the matrix bound enzyme. J Cell Physiol 1991;149:375-82.
- Aeschlimann D, Kaupp O, Paulsson M. Transglutaminase-catalyzed matrix cross-linking in differentiating cartilage: identification of osteonectin as a major glutaminyl substrate. J Cell Biol 1995;129:881-92.
- 11. Mian S, el Alaoui S, Lawry J, Gentile V, Davies PJ, Griffin M. The importance of the GTP-binding protein tissue transglutaminase in the regulation of cell cycle progression. FEBS Lett 1995;370:27–31.
- Maulik N, Yoshida T, Das DK. Oxidative stress developed during the reperfusion of ischemic myocardium induces apoptosis. Free Radic Biol Med 1998;24:869–75.
- 13. von Harsdorf R, Li PF, Dietz R. Signaling pathways in reactive oxygen species-induced cardiomyocyte apoptosis. Circulation 1999;99:2934–41.
- 14. Jeremias I, Kupatt C, Martin-Villalba A, Habazettl H, Schenkel J,

Boekstegers P, et al. Involvement of CD95/Apo1/Fas in cell death after myocardial ischemia. Circulation 2000;102:915–20.

- Zhang X, Azhar G, Nagano K, Wei JY. Differential vulnerability to oxidative stress in rat cardiac myocytes versus fibroblasts. J Am Coll Cardiol 2001;38:2055–62.
- Fesus L, Piacentini M. Transglutaminase 2: An enigmatic enzyme with diverse functions. Trends in Biochem Sci 2002;27:534–9.
- Griffin M, Casadio R, Bergamini CM. Transglutaminases: Nature's biological glues. Biochem J 2002;368:377–96.
- Lorand L, Graham RM. Transglutaminases: Crosslinking enzymes with pleiotropic functions. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2003;4:140–56.
- Akimov SS, Krylov D, Fleischman LF, Belkin AM. 'Tissue' transglutaminase is an integrinbinding adhesion coreceptor for fibrin. J Cell Biol 2000;148:825–38.
- Verderio EA, Telci D, Okoye A, Melino G, Griffin M. A novel RGDindependent cell adhesion pathway mediated by fibronectin-bound tissue transglutaminase rescues cells from anoikis. J Biol Chem 2003;278:42604–14.
- 21. Nakaoka H, Perez DM, Baek KJ, Das T, Husain A, Misono K, et al. Gh: A GTPbinding protein with transglutaminase activity and receptor signaling function. Science 1994; 264:1593–6.

- 22. Feng JF, Rhee SG, Im MJ. Evidence that phospholipase delta1 is the effector in the Gh (transglutaminase II)-mediated signaling. J Biol Chem 1996;271:16451–4.
- 23. Iismaa SE, Wu MJ, Nanda N, Church WB, Graham RM. GTP binding and signaling by Gh/transglutaminase II involves distinct residues in a unique GTP-binding pocket. J Biol Chem 2000;275: 18259–65.
- 24. Melino G, Piacentini M. Related Articles, Links Abstract 'Tissue' transglutaminase in cell death: A downstream or a multifunctional upstream effector? FEBS Lett 1998;430:59–63.
- 25. Hasegawa G, Suwa M, Ichikawa Y, Ohtsuka T, Kumagai S, Kikuchi M, et al A novel function of tissue-type transglutaminase: Protein disulphide isomerase. Biochem J 2003;373:793–803.
- 26. Piacentini M, Autuori F, Dini L, Farrace MG, Ghibelli L, Piredda L, et al. 'Tissue' transglutaminase is specifically expressed in neonatal rat liver cells undergoing apoptosis upon epidermal growth factor-stimulation. Cell Tissue Res 1991;263:227–35.
- Fesus L, Davies PJA, Piacentini M. Apoptosis: molecular mechanisms in programmed cell death. Eur J Cell Biol 1991;56:170–7
- Piacentini M, Davies PJA, Fesus L. Transglutaminase in cells undergoing apoptosis. In: Apoptosis: The Molecular Basis of Apoptosis in Disease (Tomei, L.D., and Cope, F.O., eds) New York: Cold Spring Harbor

Laboratory Press: 1994. p.143-63.

- 29. Amendola A, Gougeon ML, Poccia F, Bondurand A, Fesus L, Piacentini M. Induction of 'tissue' transglutaminase in HIV-pathogenesis: evidence for high rate of apoptosis of CD41 T lymphocytes and accessory cells in lymphoid tissues. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996;93:11057–62.
- Nagy L, Thomazy VA, Saydak MM, Stein JP, Davies PJA. The promoter of mouse tissue transglutaminase gene directs tissue-specific, retinoidregulated and apoptosis linked expression Cell Death Differ 1997;4:534– 47.
- 31. Szondy Z, Sarang Z, Molnar P, Nemeth T, Piacentini M, Mastroberardino PG, et al. Transglutaminase 2-/- mice reveal a phagocytosis-associated crosstalk between macrophages and apoptotic cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2003;100:7812–7.
- 32. Antonyak MA, Singh US, Lee DA, Boehm JE, Combs C, Zgola MM, et al. Effects of tissue transglutaminase on retinoic acid-induced cellular differentiation and protection against apoptosis. J Biol Chem 2001;276:33582–7.
- 33. Boehm JE, Singh U, Combs C, Antonyak MA, Cerione RA. Tissue transglutaminase protects against apoptosis by modifying the tumor suppressor protein p110 Rb. J Biol Chem 2002;277: 20127–30.
- 34. Milakovic T, Tucholski J, McCoy E, Johnson GV. Intracellular

localization and activity state of tissue transglutaminase differentially impacts cell death. J Biol Chem 2004;279:8715–22.

Abstract (in korean)

심근세포의 세포 사멸 기전에서의

tissue transglutaminase의 기능적 역할

<지도교수 장양수> 연세대학교 의학과 대학원 김병극

Tissue transglutaminase (tTG)는 포유동물의 조직에 산재되어 있으며 세포막에 결합되어 세포 외부나 세포막에 결합되어 세포 내부나 세포질에서 발견된다. 세포의 기능적 측면에서 tTG의 생리적 역할은 확실히 알려진 것이 없다. 대다수의 연구들은 tTG에 의한 아미드 교환반응이 세포사멸을 촉진 혹은 억제시킬 수 있는 반면, 이 효소의 구아노신 3인산과의 결합된 상태는 일반적으로 사멸로부터 세포를 보호한다는 점을 강조한다. 즉 이전의 연구들은 tTG가 세포사멸의 과정에서 이중성을 보여줌을 지적한다. 이번 연구에서 우리는 신생 백서의 심근세포의 세포사멸 과정에서 tTG가 상당한 역할을 할 것이라고 가정하였다. 우선, 신생 백서의 심근세포를 2시간 동안 500 μM H₂O₂ 혹은 24시간 동안 100 μM retinoic acids로 처리 하였다. 심근세포에 세포사멸을 유발시키는 자극을 준 후 tTG의 단백질 발현의 증가를 확인하기 위해 면역세포염색분석과 유체 세포측정법을 사용하였다. Caspase-3 활성 측정법은 tTG의 발현과 세포 사멸 사이의 상당한 관련성을 보여주고 있다. 면역분석법은 tTG 단백질의 발현 증가가 p-ERK1,2, p-Akt 그리고 Bcl-2과 같은 세포 생존 혹은 항세포사멸 신호 분자를 상당히 억제하나 caspase-8, cytochrome c 그리고 Bax의 활성은 강화시킨다는 사실을 보여주고 있다. tTG의 단백질 발현은 또한 세포내 칼슘의 과부하를 조절하는데 이는 tTG의 유전자를 삽입하여 이를 과발현 시킨 심근세포를 500 µM H2O2로 처리한 결과 PLC-&1의 단백질 발현과 PKC의 활성은 감소시키기 때문이다. 게다가 우리의 결과는 tTG의 단백질 발현과 tTG 관련 세포 사멸 분자들이 calreticulin (CRT)의 단백질 발현 수준에 의해 조절됨을 보여주고 있다. 그러므로 이 연구가 보여주고 있는 것은 tTG의 단백질 발현 수준이 세포사멸 신호를 조절하고 세포내의 칼슘의 수준과 신호를 매개한다는 것이다.

핵심되는 말: 심근세포, tissue transglutaminase (tTG), 세포사멸,

과산화 수소, Retinoic acids